

&



ANAESTHETIC TECHNICIANS COLLECTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

1st October 2013 to 30 September 2015

| | Contents | Page |
|------|---|-------------|
| 1.0 | PARTIES | 3 |
| 2.0 | COVERAGE AND APPLICATION | 3 |
| 3.0 | TERM | 3 |
| 4.0 | VARIATION OF THIS MECA | 3 |
| 5.0 | DEFINITIONS | 3 |
| 6.0 | HOURS OF WORK | 4 |
| 7.0 | MEAL BREAKS AND REST PERIODS | 5 |
| 8.0 | SALARIES | 6 |
| 9.0 | CALL BACKS | 7 |
| 10.0 | HIGHER DUTIES ALLOWANCE | <u>8</u> |
| 11.0 | REIMBURSING PAYMENTS | 8 |
| 12.0 | PUBLIC HOLIDAYS | 9 |
| 13.0 | ANNUAL LEAVE | 9 |
| 14.0 | SICK LEAVE | 10 |
| 15.0 | BEREAVEMENT LEAVE | 11 |
| 16.0 | PARENTAL LEAVE | 11 |
| 17.0 | JURY SERVICE/WITNESS LEAVE | 11 |
| 18.0 | LONG SERVICE LEAVE | <u>12</u> |
| 19.0 | RIGHT OF ENTRY | 1 <u>2</u> |
| 20.0 | DELEGATE / WORKPLACE REPRESENTATIVE | 1 <u>2</u> |
| 21.0 | EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS EDUCATION LEAVE | 12 <u>3</u> |
| 22.0 | CONSULTATION AND MANAGEMENT OF CHANGE | 13 |
| 23.0 | Intentionally Left Blank | 13 |
| 24.0 | EMPLOYMENT PROTECTION PROVISION | 1 <u>3</u> |
| 25.0 | HARASSMENT PREVENTION | 1 <u>4</u> |
| 26.0 | INDEMNITY COVER | 1 <u>4</u> |
| 27.0 | CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT | 1 <u>4</u> |
| 28.0 | DEDUCTION OF UNION FEES | 1 <u>4</u> |
| 29.0 | UNIFORMS AND PROTECTIVE CLOTHING | 1 <u>5</u> |
| 30.0 | HEALTH AND SAFETY | 15 |
| 31.0 | PAYMENT OF WAGES | 15 |
| 32.0 | TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT | 15 |
| 33.0 | RESOLUTION OF EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS PROBLEMS | 16 |
| 34.0 | CONFIDENTIALITY | 17 |
| 35.0 | TEMPORARY OR FIXED TERM AGREEMENTS | 17 |
| | | |





1.0 Parties

In accordance with the Employment Relations Act 2000 this collective agreement is made between:

Mercy Hospital Dunedin Limited operating as Mercy Hospital (The "Employer")

AND

Association of Professionals and Executive Employees (APEX) (The "Union")

2.0 Coverage and Application

- 2.1 This collective agreement is made pursuant to the Employment Relations Act 2000 and shall apply to all employees who are members of APEX and who are employed by Mercy Hospital in the following positions:
 - 1. Anaesthetic Technician Coordinator
 - **2.** Anaesthetic Technicians
 - **3.** Trainee
- 2.2 The parties agree that any employee whose work is covered by the coverage clause of this agreement (clause 2.1 above), who is engaged by the employer after the date this agreement comes into effect shall be offered information about becoming a member of the union. Further to this, the provisions of Section 62 of the Employment Relations Act 2000 shall apply.
- 2.3 Existing employees who are covered by the coverage clause (clause 2.1) who become members during the term of the collective agreement shall, from the date of becoming a union member, be bound by all benefits and obligations relating to employees under this collective agreement subject to the restrictions set out in the Employment Relations Act 2000.
- 2.4 **Savings:** Nothing in this collective agreement shall operate as to reduce the ordinary (T1) salary rate applying to any employee at the date of this collective agreement coming into force unless specifically agreed between the parties during the negotiations.

3.0 Term

This collective agreement shall come into force on 1 October 2013 and continue in force until 30th September 2015.

4.0 Variation

Any variation to this collective agreement shall be mutually agreed between the parties and such variation shall be in writing and signed by the parties.

5.0 Definitions

"Casual employee" means an employee who has no set hours or days of work and who is normally asked to work as and when required. Casual employees cannot be used to replace genuine permanent or temporary situations except to meet business requirements when no other alternative is available.



"Shift" means a single, continuous period of work required to be given by an employee, excluding on-call and call-back. A shift shall be defined by a starting and finishing time. When a major part of a duty falls on a particular day the whole duty shall be regarded as being worked on that day.

"Employee" means any person employed by an employer and whose position is covered by this collective agreement.

"Employer" means Mercy Hospital.

"Full time employee" an employee who normally works a minimum of 40 hours per week.

"Ordinary time hourly rate of pay" shall be 1/2086, correct to three decimal places of a dollar, of the yearly rate of salary payable.

"Relevant Daily Pay" has the meaning as provided by the Holidays Act 2003.

"Part-time employee" means an employee, other than a casual employee, who is employed on a permanent basis but works less than the full-time hours prescribed in this collective agreement. Any wages and benefits e.g. leave; will be pro rata according to the hours worked unless specifically stated otherwise.

"Anaesthetic Technician" means a health professional who holds registration with the Medical Sciences Council of New Zealand as an Anaesthetic Technician

"Anaesthetic Technician Coordinator" means an Anaesthetic Technician who is appointed to oversee or manage the Anaesthetic Technicians and the Anaesthetic Technician department, and any employee substantially employed to these duties who may use another title.

"Service" means the current/continuous service with the employer plus any individual employee's service previously recognised at the commencement date of this Agreement, except where otherwise defined.

"Temporary/Fixed Term Employee" means an employee who is employed for a specified limited term for a specified project, situation or event. Temporary agreements must not be used to deny staff security of employment.

"Week" is defined as midnight Sunday/Monday to midnight Sunday/Monday, for the purpose of calculating the pay week and "fortnight" has a corresponding meaning involving two successive weeks.

6.0 Hours of Work

The parties note that the Health & Safety in Employment Act 1992 S.6 (d) requires the employer to take all practical steps to prevent harm occurring to employees from the way work is organised.

The following hours of work shall apply to all employees except otherwise agreed in writing.



- 6.1 The ordinary full-time hours of an employee shall be 40 per week, between 0700 and 19:00 Monday to Friday. Rosters may comprise a mixture of 8 hour and 10 hour shifts to achieve full time hours of 40 hours per week. Duty hours must be continuous except for unpaid meal breaks. Every employee shall have at least two (2) 24 hour periods off duty each week and except in the case of emergencies or by agreement, these shall be consecutive.
- 6.2 No employee shall work more than seven consecutive 8-hour shifts. No employee working 10 hours per rostered shift shall work more than five consecutive duties. Where five consecutive 10 hour shifts are worked the employee must then have a minimum of 3 consecutive 24 hour periods off duty.
- 6.3 Rosters will be published not less than 14 days prior to the commencement of the roster, provided that less notice may be given in exceptional circumstances. Changes in rosters, once posted, shall be by mutual agreement. Overtime or other penalty provisions shall not apply in these instances.
- 6.4 Where the employer clearly identifies that alterations to an employee's hours of work is required, the hours of work may be varied by agreement between the employees affected, and the employer. For an on-going change to hours of work, such agreement shall be put in writing and signed. Employees have the right to seek the advice of APEX or to have APEX act on their behalf before signing such agreement.
- 6.5 Minimum break between shifts:

A break of at least nine continuous hours must be provided wherever possible between any two periods of a full shift or more which include.

- Periods of normal rostered work; or
- Periods of overtime that is continuous with a period of normal rostered work; or
- Call back duty.

If a break of at least nine continuous hours cannot be provided between periods of a full shift, the shift is to be regarded as continuous until a break of at least nine continuous hours is taken, and it shall be paid at overtime rates. Time spent off duty during ordinary working hours solely to obtain a nine hour break shall be paid at ordinary time rates.

This requirement to provide a break wherever possible applies whether or not any penalty payment will apply under the provisions of this clause.

7.0 Meal Breaks and Rest Periods

- 7.1 Except as provided in 7.2 below, no employee shall be required to work for more than five hours continuously without being entitled to a meal break of not less than half an hour. There will be only one meal break of not less than half an hour during a 10 hour shift.
- 7.2 An employee unable to be relieved from work for a meal break shall be entitled to have a meal while on duty and this period shall be regarded as working time.
- 7.3 Except where provided for in 7.2 above an employee unable to take a meal after five hours shall be paid as a penalty payment at time-half in addition to normal salary from the expiry of five hours until the time when a meal can be taken.



7.4 Rest breaks of 10 minutes each for morning tea, afternoon tea where these occur during duty, shall be recognised as time worked. Tea, coffee, milk and sugar shall be supplied by the employer at no cost to the employee.

8.0 Salaries Scales

| | | 1/10/2013 | 1/10/2014 |
|----------------------|----|-----------|-----------|
| | 13 | \$82,316 | \$83,551 |
| | 12 | \$79,766 | \$80,963 |
| | 11 | \$76,437 | \$77,583 |
| | 10 | \$74,994 | \$76,119 |
| | 9 | \$71,636 | \$72,710 |
| Merit and Designated | 8 | \$68,275 | \$69,299 |
| | | | |
| | 7 | \$64,796 | \$65,767 |
| | 6 | \$61,556 | \$62,479 |
| | 5 | \$58,315 | \$59,190 |
| | 4 | \$56,697 | \$57,547 |
| | 3 | \$54,356 | \$55,171 |
| | 2 | \$50,996 | \$51,761 |
| Technicians | 1 | \$48,956 | \$49,690 |
| | | | |
| | 4 | \$43,362 | \$44,013 |
| | 3 | \$40,398 | \$41,004 |
| | 2 | \$37,427 | \$37,988 |
| Trainees | 1 | \$34,456 | \$34,972 |

Progression:

- Trainees, on completion of 6 month module advance to step2, steps 2-4 by automatic annual increment.
- Technicians, Steps 1-7 by automatic annual increment, per full-time year from appointment. Merit steps as per agreed criteria.
- AT Coordinator will be paid as a minimum on step 10.
- 8.1 Operation of Salary Scales
- (a) The salary scales above shall be applied to the respective groups of employees.
- (b) On appointment, the employer may place employees on any step of the relevant scale, taking into account the following factors:
 - (i) previous anaesthetic technician service or other relevant work and life experience the employer may credit this service;





- (c) Movement through the salary scales shall be by automatic annual increment, per full-time year from appointment, subject to satisfactory performance, except for the merit steps. In order to apply to progress to the Technicians merit grades, a technician requires a minimum of 7 years post graduate relevant experience.
 - (i) Progression to and through merit steps is dependent on performance, job content, responsibilities and clinical expertise, over and above the normal expectations and shall be considered on a case by case basis.
 - (ii) Merit steps will be reviewable annually and maybe increased, decreased or remain the same depending on the performance of the employee.
 - (d) Salary supplements applied to an employee's base salary at implementation of this agreement shall be subject to all future negotiated increases to salary scales

8.3 **Overtime and Weekend Rates**

8.3.1 Overtime

- (a) Overtime is time worked in excess of eight hours per day or the rostered shift whichever is greater or in excess of 80 hours per two week period, when such work has been authorised in advance.
- (b) Overtime worked on any day, other than a Sunday or public holiday, shall be paid at one and one half times the ordinary time hourly rate of pay (T1.5). Overtime worked on a Sunday or Public Holiday shall be paid at double the ordinary time hourly rate of pay (T2)
- (c) By agreement between the employee and employer overtime worked may be taken as time in lieu at the rate at which it is earned. Such time in lieu will be taken at a time agreed between the employee and employer and shall be subject to the same accrual provisions as annual leave.

8.3.2 Weekend Rates

- (a) Weekend rates From midnight Friday/Saturday to midday Saturday at time and a half the ordinary time hourly rate of pay (T1.5) for the first three hours and at twice the ordinary time hourly rate of pay (T2) thereafter until midnight Sunday/Monday.
- (b) Overtime and weekend rates shall not be paid in respect of the same hours.

9.0 Call Backs

- 9.1 Call-back is considered overtime and will be paid at T2 Rate for all call back.
- 9.2 An employee shall be paid for a minimum of two hours, or for actual working and travelling time, whichever is the greater, when the employee:



- (i) is called back to work after completing the day's work or shift, and having left the place of employment; or
- (iii) is called back before the normal time of starting work and does not continue working until such normal starting time; except that a call-back commencing and finishing within the minimum 2 hour period covered by an earlier call-back shall not attract further payment. Where a call-back commences before and continues beyond the end of the minimum 2 hour period of a previous call-back, payment shall be made as if the employee had worked continuously from the beginning of the earlier call-back, to the end of the later call-back.
- 9.3 Where an employee is instructed to be on call during normal off duty hours an on call allowance of \$4.12 (effective 1/10/2013) and \$4.18 (effective 1/10/2014) per hour shall be paid and an appropriate locater or a cell phone provided. Except that on public holidays the on call allowance shall be \$6.18 (effective 1/10/2013 and \$6.27 (effective 1/10/2014) per hour.

10.0 Higher Duty Allowance

Where an employee performs the duties of a higher position, in the absence of the employee normally performing in that position for more than five consecutive days, they shall be entitled to a higher duties allowance for the full period of the absence. The allowance payable shall be the difference between the current salary of the employee acting in the higher position, and the minimum salary the employee would receive if appointed to that position.

11.0 Reimbursing Payments

- 11.1 **Annual Practising Certificate:** Where an anaesthetic technician is required by law to hold an annual practising certificate or equivalent, the cost of the certificate shall be met by the employer.
- 11.2 **Professional association:** Upon production of receipts the employer shall reimburse trainee Anaesthetic Technicians and delegated work place assessors for the costs of membership of NZATS for the term of this agreement to a maximum of \$100.00.

11.3 Travelling Expenses and Incidentals

- (a) When travelling on employer business, the employee will be reimbursed for costs on an actual and reasonable basis on presentation of receipts, as per Mercy Hospital's reimbursement policy.
- (b) Employees who are instructed to use their motor vehicles on employer business shall be reimbursed in accordance with the IRD mileage rates as promulgated from time to time. The IRD rates that applied at the commencement of this collective agreement are as follows: 77 cents per kilometre.



12.0 Public Holidays

12.1 The following days shall be observed as public holidays:

New Year's Day Sovereign's Birthday

Easter Monday Otago Anniversary Day ANZAC Day

12.2 In order to maintain essential services, the employer may require an employee to work on a public holiday when the public holiday falls on a day which, but for it being a public holiday, would otherwise be a working day for the employee.

- 12.3 An employee required to work on a public holiday as part of the normal roster (i.e., not as overtime) shall be paid at time one (T1) in addition to normal salary, and is also to be granted a day's leave on pay at a later date agreed between the employee and employer.
- 12.4 An employee required to be on call on a public holiday shall be granted a day in lieu at a later date agreed between the employee and employer.
- 12.5 Off duty day upon which the employee does not work:
 - (a) Where a public holiday is observed on other than a Saturday or Sunday and the public holiday falls on the rostered day off of a full-time Employee, then the Employee will receive credit for the public holiday by taking it as a paid public holiday on the actual date or at a later time by mutual agreement, under the same payment conditions as Clause 12.3. The maximum number of hours paid or accrued in this circumstance is eight.
 - (b) Part-time employees –

Where a part-time employee's days of work are fixed, the employee shall only be entitled to public holiday provisions if the day would otherwise be a working day for that employee.

Where a part-time employee's days are not fixed, the employee shall be entitled to public holiday provisions if they worked on the day of the week that the public holiday falls more than 40 % of the time over the last three months. Payment will be relevant daily pay.

12.6 Public holidays falling during leave: When a public holiday falls during a period of annual leave, an employee is entitled to that holiday which is not debited against such leave.

13.0 Annual Leave

- 13.1 Employees, other than casuals, shall be entitled to 21 days annual leave, taken and paid in accordance with the Holidays Act 2003 and subject to the other provisions of this clause, except that on completion of five years recognised current continuous service the employee shall be entitled to 25 days annual leave.
- 13.2 Employees already granted annual leave entitlements exceeding those of 13.1 at implementation of this agreement shall retain those entitlements.





13.3 Casual employees shall be paid 8% of gross taxable earnings in lieu of annual leave to be added to the salary paid for each engagement.

13.4 Conditions:

Annual leave may be granted in one or more periods. In accordance with the Holidays Act 2003, the employee shall be given the opportunity to take two weeks leave at one time. Annual leave is able to be accrued to a maximum of two years entitlement, only with the prior approval of the employer. Annual leave shall be taken to fit in with service/work requirements and the employee's need for rest and recreation.

When an employee ceases duty, wages shall be paid for accrued annual leave, and the last day of employment shall be the last day worked.

An employee may anticipate up to one year's annual leave entitlement at the discretion of the employer, and with the proviso that if the employee resigns from their employment prior to the leave being accrued, the employer will deduct the balance outstanding from the employee's final pay.

13.5 Easter Closedown

Employees covered by this collective agreement agree that according to Holidays Act 2003 S 30 (2) the employer may have a second closedown period at Easter. That period shall be from Good Friday until the following Sunday week inclusive. The Taking of the second closedown period will be advised to the employees two months in advance of its scheduled occurrence. If the employer exercises its discretion to have the second closedown period, the employee may have the opportunity to take leave without pay notwithstanding that other leave may be available to take.

14.0 Sick Leave

- 14.1 Where an employee is granted leave of absence because of sickness or injury not arising out of and in the course of employment (in this clause referred to as "sick leave"), the employee shall be paid in accordance with the Holidays Act 2003.
 - (a) Where an Employee is granted sick leave, they shall be entitled to five days sick leave in the first six months of employment, a further five days sick leave in the second six months, and then ten days in each subsequent year
 - (b) Part-time employees are entitled to sick leave on a pro rata basis. The minimum entitlement for part-time employees is 5 days per annum.
 - (c) Unused sick leave for full-time employees shall accumulate to a maximum of 40 days to be used when the employee is sick, by carrying forward from one year to another any unused sick leave of up to 30 days.



- (d) Sick leave may be taken when an employee, the employee's spouse or a person who depends on the employee for care is sick or injured.
- (e) Proof of sickness or injury may be required in accordance with section 68 of the Holidays Act 2003.
- (f) At the employers discretion the employee may be granted further sick or domestic leave.
- (g) When sickness occurs during annual or long service leave the employer may permit the period of sickness to be debited against sick leave entitlement, except where the sickness occurs during leave following relinquishment of office, provided:
 - i. the period of sickness is more than three days, and
 - ii. a medical certificate is produced, showing the duration of the illness
- (h) Where the employer has reasonable grounds to believe that sickness or injury compromises an employee's ability to perform their job, the employer may require the employee to undergo medical examinations, by suitably qualified practitioners and at the employer's expense.

15.0 Bereavement Leave

- 15.1 The employer shall approve special bereavement leave on pay for an employee to discharge any obligation and/or to pay respects to a Tupapaku/deceased person with whom the employee has had a close association. Such obligations may exist because of blood or family ties or because of particular cultural requirements such as attendance at all or part of a Tangihanga (or its equivalent). The length of time off shall be at the discretion of the employer and should not be unreasonably withheld and will be exercised in accordance with the Holidays Act 2003.
- 15.2 If bereavement occurs while an employee is absent on annual leave, such leave may be interrupted and bereavement leave granted in terms of clause 15.1 above. This provision will not apply if the employee is on leave without pay.

16.0 Parental Leave

Parental leave shall be granted in accordance with the Parental Leave and Employment Protection Act 1987.

17.0 Jury Service/Witness Leave

17.1 Where an employee is required to undertake Jury service the difference between the fees (excluding reimbursing payments) paid by the court and the employee's expected pay for the scheduled work shall be made up by the employer for a maximum of one week's jury service in any one period of jury service, provided that the employee returns to work immediately on any day they are not actually serving on a jury and further provided that the employee produces the court expenses voucher to the employer. Additional payments for jury service in excess of one week may be made at the employer's discretion.



- 17.2 An employee called on for jury service may elect to take annual leave, leave on pay, or leave without pay. Where annual leave or leave without pay is granted or where the service is performed during an employee's off duty hours, the employee may retain the juror's fees (and expenses paid).
- 17.3 Where an employee is required by the employer to be a witness in a matter arising out of his/her employment, he/she shall be granted paid leave at the ordinary time hourly rate. The employee is to pay any fee received to the Employer but may retain expenses.

18.0 Long Service Leave

- 18.1 The Employee shall be entitled to special holidays in addition to annual leave as follows:
 - One special holiday of two weeks after the completion of 10 years of current continuous service with the Employer which shall be taken before the completion of 20 years of current continuous service with the Employer;
 - One special holiday of three weeks after the completion of 20 years of current continuous service with the Employer which shall be taken before the completion of 30 years of current continuous service with the Employer.
 - One special holiday of five weeks after the completion of 30 years of current continuous service with the Employer which shall be taken before the date of retirement.
- 18.2 All such special holidays provided for in this clause shall be at the current usual hours and pay rate for the Employee and are to be taken, where possible, in one period at such time as agreed between the Employer and the Employee or failing agreement as determined by the Employer following consultation with the Employee.
- 18.3 If an Employee having become entitled to a special holiday leaves his/her employment before such holiday has been taken he/she shall be paid in lieu thereof.
- 18.4 Where the Employer and the Employee mutually agree, payment may be made in lieu of the holiday being taken

19.0 Right of Entry

The authorised union representative shall be granted access to visit the workplace in accordance with Sections 20 and 21 of the Employment Relations Act 2000 and subsequent amendments.

20.0 Delegate / Workplace Representative

The employer accepts that employee job delegates are a recognised channel of communication between the union and the employer in the workplace. Accordingly paid time off (at ordinary time rates) shall be allowed for recognised employee delegates to attend meetings with management, consult with union members, and other recognised employee job delegates and union officials, to consult and discuss issues such as management of change, staff surplus, and representing employees.



Prior approval for such meetings shall be obtained from management. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. The amount of paid time off and facilities provided shall be sufficient to enable delegates to give adequate consideration to the issues in the workplace.

21.0 Employment Relations Education Leave

Employers shall grant union members leave on pay to undertake trade union education or training, in accordance with the Employment Relations Act 2000. The provisions of this Act, or any amendment or Act passed in substitution for this Act, shall apply.

22.0 Consultation and Management of Change

Regular consultation between the employer, its employees and the APEX is essential on substantive matters of mutual concern and interest. Effective communication between the parties will allow for:

- (a) Improved decision making
- (b) Greater cooperation between employer and employees; and
- (c) A more harmonious, effective, efficient, safe and productive workplace.

Prior to the commencement of any significant change to staffing, structure or work practices, the employer will identify and give reasonable notice to employees who may be affected and to the APEX to allow them to participate in the consultative process so as to allow substantive input.

Where an employer receives an indication of potential significant changes, they undertake to advise staff and the APEX as soon as practicable of the possibility of these changes.

23.0 This clause left intentionally blank

24.0 Employment Protection Provision

- 24.1 If the employer is proposing a restructure (that is sell, transfer or contract out all or any part of the employer's operation to a new employer) and the employee's position is affected by the restructure then the employer will consult with the employee as required by current legislation.
- 24.2 In a restructure the employer will endeavour to negotiate with the new employer for the continued employment of the employee on the terms of this agreement if that is possible or on such terms as may be agreed. If such negotiations are successful the employee may choose whether to transfer or not on the terms so negotiated. If the employee does transfer then this agreement ends on the day that the restructuring takes place and the redundancy provision of this agreement does not apply.
- 24.3 If the employee does not transfer to the new employer on a restructure or if in the opinion of the employer the employee's position becomes surplus to the operation of the employer then redundancy occurs.



24.4 In the event the employee is not employed by the potential new employer for whatever reason redundancy entitlements as per this agreement will apply.

25.0 Harassment Prevention

Employees should refer in the first instance to the provisions and procedures specified in the employer's Harassment Policy. The employee's attention is also drawn to clause 33 Employment Relationship Problems.

26.0 Indemnity Insurance

The Employer shall indemnify to the extent permissible under law, and keep indemnified, the Employee against the outcome of legal action taken by a third party against him or her based upon any act, error or omission or statement of the Employee during the course of his or her employment, provided the employee has acted in good faith and with reasonable care, and further provided that such act, error, omission or statement (if so established) does not arise from criminal conduct on the part of the employee or wilful failure to carry out a lawful instruction from the Employer.

27.0 Continuing Professional Development

The employer acknowledges a commitment to supporting the continued safe practice of its workforce and to supporting opportunities for the development of knowledge and skills which will benefit the patient, organisational effectiveness and workforce and enable employees to meet the regulatory requirements to maintain professional competence.

- 27.1 The employer shall grant professional development leave of up to 24 hours per calendar year for full time employees
- 27.2 Professional development leave will be granted at T1 rate and shall not accumulate from one year to the next.
- 27.3 The on-going technical/ scientific development within the Anaesthetic Technology requires qualified staff to attend conferences and seminars in order to maintain their on-going technical/ scientific competence. The employee then has the obligation of bringing back the latest information to their workplace and incorporating any new knowledge into the strategic development of their department. Attendance at such events is to be balanced against the operational requirements of the employer. Forward planning and cooperation between management and staff is fundamental to ensuring CPD requirements are met. Any claim for expenses must be approved in advance and will be considered on a case by case basis.

28.0 Deduction of Union Fees

The employer shall deduct employee APEX fees from the wages/salaries of employees when authorised in writing by members and shall remit such subscriptions to the APEX at agreed intervals. A list of members shall be supplied by APEX on request. The employer is able to deduct up to 2.5% of these fees as a handling charge.



29.0 Uniforms and Protective Clothing

- 29.1 Where the employer requires an employee to wear a uniform, it shall be provided free of charge, but shall remain the property of the employer.
- 29.2 Suitable protective clothing shall be provided at the employer's expense where the duty involves a risk of excessive soiling or damage to uniforms or personal clothing or a risk of injury to the employee.

30.0 Health and Safety

30.1 The employer shall comply with the provisions of the Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 and subsequent amendments concerning safety, health and welfare matters. The parties to this agreement agree that employees should be adequately protected from any safety and health hazard arising in the workplace. All reasonable precautions for the health and safety of employees shall be taken. The parties agree to comply with the Employee Participation Agreement.

The parties to this agreement recognise that effective health and safety committees are the appropriate means of providing consultative mechanisms on health and safety issues in the workplace in accordance with Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992 and subsequent amendments.

- 30.2 It shall be the responsibility of the employer to ensure that the workplace meets required standards and that adequate and sufficient safety equipment is provided.
- 30.3 It shall be the responsibility of every employee covered by this agreement to work safely and to report any hazards, accidents or injuries as soon as practicable to their supervisor.
- 30.4 It is a condition of employment that safety equipment and clothing required by the employer is to be worn or used by the employee and that safe working practices must be observed at all times.
- 30.5 The employer recognises that to fulfil their function health and safety delegates require adequate training, paid time and facilities.

31.0 Payment of Wages

31.1 Employees will be paid fortnightly in arrears by direct credit. The employer shall use its best endeavours to direct credit payment of wages one clear banking day prior to a public holiday.

Where errors have occurred:

Underpayment – as soon as practicable after being brought to the employer's attention corrective payment will be made.

Overpayment – The provisions of the Wages Protection Act 1983 or any amendment or act passed in substitution shall apply.

31.2 Any monies agreed, as being owed by the employee to the employer upon termination, including leave taken in advance, will be deducted from the employee's final pay.



31.3 The employees shall comply with applicable timekeeping systems.

32.0 Termination of Employment

32.1 Notice Period

Either party may terminate the employment agreement with four weeks written notice, unless otherwise negotiated with the employer. Agreement for a shorter notice period will be considered for valid reasons. When the agreed notice is not given, the unexpired notice may be paid or forfeited by the party failing to give the agreed notice.

This shall not prevent the employer from summarily dismissing any employee without notice for serious misconduct or other good cause in accordance with the employer's disciplinary procedures and/or rules of conduct.

32.2 At the employer's discretion the employee may be paid out all or part of the notice period in lieu of working that period.

32.3 Abandonment of Employment

An employee absent from work for three consecutive working days without notification to the employer or without appropriate authorisation from the employer will be considered by the employer as having terminated their employment without notice, unless the employee is able to show they were unable to fulfil their obligations under this section through no fault of their own. The employer will make all reasonable efforts to contact the employee during the three days period of unnotified absence.

33.0 Resolution of Employment Relations Problems

An "employment relationship problem" includes:

- (a) A personal grievance
- (b) A dispute
- (c) Any other problem relating to or arising out of the employment relationship but does not include any problem with negotiating new terms and conditions of employment.

Where an Employment Relationship Problem arises the parties will in the first instance seek to resolve it between the immediately affected parties. Further to this:

- (a) The employee is entitled to seek representation at any stage during the process. Help with an employment relations problem is available from within the work place (employee manager) or outside the workplace (Department of Labour 0800 800 863), or a union, an advocate or a lawyer.
- (b) If the matter is unresolved either party is entitled to seek mediation from the Labour Department or refer the matter to the Employment Relations Authority. (Both mediation and investigation by the Authority are services available for the resolution of employment relationship problems.)



A "personal grievance" means a claim that an employee:

- (a) has been unjustifiably dismissed; or
- (b) has had his/her employment, or his/her conditions of employment, affected to his/her disadvantage by some unjustifiable action by the employer; or
- (c) has been discriminated against his/her employment; or
- (d) has been sexually harassed in his/her employment; or
- (e) has been racially harassed in his/her employment; or
- (f) has been subjected to duress in relation to union membership.

If the employment relationship problem is a personal grievance, the employee must raise the grievance with the employer within a period of 90 days beginning with the date on which the action alleged to amount to a personal grievance occurred or came to the notice of the employee, whichever is the latter.

Where any matter comes before the Authority for determination, the Authority must direct the matter to mediation in the first instance. Where mediation has failed or been deemed inappropriate in the circumstances, the Authority will then have the power to investigate the matter.

If the employment relationship problem relates to discrimination or sexual harassment, services available for the resolution of the problem include either application to the Authority for the resolution of this grievance or a complaint under the Human Rights Act 1993, but not both.

34.0 Confidentiality

Employee shall respect the confidentiality of any information given to the Employee or otherwise obtained relating the Employer's business. The Employee shall not during and after employment disclose or make use of any confidential information relating to the business of the Employer. All patient information and systems and procedures of the Employer's business are agreed to be confidential information

35.0 TEMPORARY OR FIXED TERM AGREEMENTS

Temporary or Fixed Term Employment Agreements should only be used to cover specific situations of a temporary nature or fixed term, e.g. to fill a position where the incumbent is on study or parental leave; or where there is a task of a finite duration to be performed.

Temporary or Fixed Term Employment Agreements while justified in some cases to cover situations of a finite nature, must not be used to deny staff security of employment in traditional career fields.



SIGNED AGREEMENT

| Richard Whitney, Chief Executive Officer For and on behalf of Mercy Hospital Dunedin Ltd | Date |
|--|------|
| | |
| Dr Deborah Powell National Secretary APEX | Date |



